IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F		E	D
	SID J.	WHI	TP:

AUG 15 1990

PLENK, SURFICENE COM Ðx Deputy Clerk

BRUCE DOUGLAS PACE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,056

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. MCLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On December 14, 1988, a Santa Rosa County grand jury indicted Bruce Douglas Pace for the first degree murder and armed robbery of Floyd Convington. (R 1132-1133) Pace pleaded not guilty to the charges. (R 1252) He proceeded to a jury trial on August 21, 1989, and the jury found him guilty as charged. (R 4, 1210) The penalty phase of the trial was conducted the following day, and the jury recommended a death sentence with a vote of seven to five. (R 1211)

Circuit Judge Ben Gordon adjudged Pace guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder and 15 years imprisonment for the robbery on November 16, 1989. (R 1238-1243) In support of the death sentence, the court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) Pace had a previous conviction for a violent felony, a robbery in 1982; (2) Pace was on parole at the time of the homicide; and (3) the homicide was committed during the course of a robbery. (R 1234-1235) The court found no mitigating circumstances. (R 1236-1237)

Pace timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on November 17, 1989. (R 1244)

Facts -- Guilt Phase

Floyd Covington operated a taxi cab in Patterson Town in Santa Rosa County. (R 574) He was a large man and relied on a cane when he walked. (R 576, 623) Around 10:00 a.m. on

- 1 -

November 4, 1988, his daughter, Barabara Mack, talked to him on the radio. (R 578) She advised him that she did not need a ride to the cab stand. (R 578) Later in the day, Mack was unable to contact her father via radio. (R 583) Frankie Covington, Floyd's daughter-in-law, filed a missing person's report with the sheriff's office on November 7, 1989. (R 588-593) Investigators found Covington's taxi, a white, Buick station wagon, that evening around 7:00 down a trail in a wooded area which had been covered with a pile of brush. (R 608-609) The taxicab medallion was gone from the top of the car. (R 613) There were blood stains in the interior of the car. (R 638-641) Seriology testing showed the blood was consistent with Covington's, ABO type O. (R 777-784) Jan Johnson, a blood stain pattern analyst, was of the opinion that the blood stains showed someone was shot while sitting behind the steering wheel of the car with the shot coming from the passenger side. (R 809- 817) Based on some smeared blood on the seat, Johnson also was of the opinion that the victim was moved to the other side of the car. (R 816-819) On November 10, 1989, Covington's body was found in another wooded area 12.1 miles from the taxi cab. (R 601-605, 618-621, 889) Covington's empty wallet was found about 20 feet from the body. (R 734-735, 746)

The medical examiner, Dr. David Nicholson, observed the body at the scene and performed an autopsy the following day. (R 627-630) He concluded that the body had been at the scene between two and seven days before it was discovered. (R 630)

- 2 -

Covington had been shot twice in the chest with a shotgun. (R 628) Either of the wounds alone would have caused death. (R 631) Nicholson thought one shot was fired from five to seven feet away and the second was fired from a distance of three to four feet. (R 628) The plastic wadding and shot cups from the shells were recovered from the body. (R 628-629) One piece of the wadding was removed from the abdomen, and the others were in the victim's shirt and had not entered the body. (R 628-629) Nicholson said the angle of one wound was straight across the body, slightly front to back. (R 631) The second wound was slightly downward and straight into the body. (R 631) Nicholson said the angle of the wounds would be consistent with the theory that the shots originated from the passenger side of the car and struck the victim as he sat behind the wheel on the driver's side. (R 631)

Phillip Brand stated that he saw a white station wagon taxicab around 10:30 on the morning of November 4th. (R 660-661, 666) The car had a yellow or orange taxi insignia on the top. (R 661) Brand was driving on Highway 87 and the cab was angling off the road into a grassy ditch headed toward a sandy-looking road. (R 663-664) He only saw the car for 15 to 20 seconds and could not identify any characteristics of the driver. (R 662) He did not see anyone in the passenger seat. (R 662) Although he thought it odd to see a taxi going into a wooded area, Brand had no reason to report his observations until he read an article in the newspaper about the discovery of a taxi in the woods. (R 664-665)

- 3 -

During the evening of November 3, 1988, Bruce talked to his cousin, Angela Pace. (R 680) Over defense objections, she was allowed to testify to the contents of the conversation she had with Bruce. (R 680-682) Bruce talked to Angela about the money problems he was having, specifically he told her he was tired of being broke. (R 682) According to Angela, Bruce said, "[T]here's something that I do, I hate to do, but I want to have some money tomorrow." (R 682) Bruce did not say what he intended to do. (R 683) He never mentioned robbing anyone or shooting anyone. (R 685) Bruce never mentioned Floyd Covington. (R 684) Angela was aware that Bruce sometimes performed odd jobs for Covington. (R 684) Angela said that Bruce and her boyfriend were to paint her sister's house the following morning, but she did not see Bruce the next day. (R 683, 685-686) She said it was not unusual for Bruce to be gone for days or even weeks at a time. (R 685)

Orestine Franklin said she saw Floyd Covington and her nephew, Bruce Pace, in Covington's taxi about 9:30 on the morning of November 4, 1988. (R 668-672) The cab was headed in the direction of the house of Bruce's mother and stepfather, Harvey and Lilly Rich. (R 670) Kim Linburger also saw Bruce that day around 12:30 or 1:00 p.m. (R 922) He wore a vest-type jacket, white pants and blue tennis shoes. (R 923) He did not appear to be injured or upset. (R 923) Linburger did not see any blood on Bruce, but his clothes were dirty. (R 925) She did not know if Bruce had any money at that time, but she was told that he borrowed \$20 from her boyfriend. (R 924, 926)

- 4 -

On Nobember 5, 1988, Michael Green and his mother, May Green, saw Bruce. (R 698, 706) Michael was driving down the road toward his mother's house when he saw Bruce walking. (R 698-699) Michael had known Bruce all of his life. (R 698) As he had done since a child, Bruce also visited May Green on occasion. (R 705-707, 725) Michael gave Bruce a ride, and they talked about getting a gun to do some shooting in May Green's backyard. (R 699) Michael suggested going to his brother's house to borrow his gun. (R 699) Bruce said he had a gun available and the two of them went to get it. (R 699) They went to and unoccupied house about a block away. (R 699-700) Bruce walked around the house and secured a shot gun from some shrubs. (R 700-701) The gun was broken down into three pieces. (R 701) After returning to May Green's house, Michael and Bruce shot the gun in the backyard. (R 701) Since Bruce had no shells, they used Michael's. (R 701) Bruce left the shotgun on the front porch and they watched a football game. (R 702) Michael left about 3:00 p.m. (R 702) Although she did not see Bruce bring a gun to her house, May Green said she saw Bruce on her porch with a gun. (R 707) When he left, he left the gun. (R 711) Green later gave the gun to an investigator. (R Two Busch beers were also left on her porch. (R 721-722) 711) She said Bruce was wearing old, grayish, faded pants, a jacket with zip-out sleeves, and tennis shoes. (R 708) There were spots on the back of the pants and May Green asked Bruce about them. (R 709-710) He said he had been squirrel hunting and the spots were from squirrel blood. (R 710)

- 5 -

Harvey Rich, Bruce's stepfather, had not seen Bruce for several days and was concerned that Bruce's absence and Floyd Covington's disappearance might be related. (R 850-851) Rich contacted the sheriff's department. (R 851) When Bruce came home, he talked to his stepfather. (R 852) Rich told Bruce that the police were looking for him. (R 861) Bruce told Rich that he needed to leave and that he thought something had happened to Covington. (R 852) Floyd Covington drove Bruce home on Friday morning. (R 853) Because he did not have his house key, Bruce entered the house through and unlocked window. (R 853-854) When he went into his room, he noticed that his brother's shotgun was missing from the gun rack. (R 854) At about the same time, someone jumped him from behind and choked him to unconsciousness. (R 854) Bruce woke up in the woods near Covington's car. (R 852) He saw his brother's gun and picked it up. (R 852, 863) He saw blood on the inside of the car. (R 852) Bruce then walked to the Greens' residence. (R 855) He did not say what he did with the gun. (R 855) Bruce voluntarily went to the sheriff's office with his stepfather. (R 861-862)

Investigators obtained some clothing and two expended shotgun shells from the Richs' residence. Bruce's stepfather discovered two red shotgun shells near his driveway. (R 857) The shells were eight to ten feet apart. (R 858) He said it was not unusual to see shotgun shells in his yard because his boys always did target shooting around the house. (R 857-858) However, he had not seen red shells in the yard before. (R 857)

- 6 -

During cross-examination, defense counsel attempted to elicit the fact that a third red shell was found in the yard. (R 866, 881) However, the court prohibited the inquiry. (R 866, 881-882) Lilly Rich, Bruce's mother, later picked up the shells and turned them over to an investigator. (R 877-878) She also gave investigators a pair of pants, a jacket and a pair of canvas shoes from Bruce's room. (R 874-876)

A firearms examiner, Donald Champagne, testified about his examination of the shotgun obtained from May Green, the expended shells found near the Richs' driveway, and the wadding and pellets removed from the body. (R 891-906) He concluded that the two expended shells were .12 gauge and manufactured by Federal Cartridge Corporation. (R 897) The plastic waddings found with the body were consistent with the type used in Federal shells. (R 894-897, 900) However, he could not identify the waddings as having come from any particular Federal shell. (R 894-897, 900-901) Champagne test fired the single, barrel .12 gauge shotgun and determined that the two expended shells submitted for examination were fired from that gun. (R 897) He could not determine when the shells were fired from the gun. (R 901) A third expended shell of Federal manufacture was also examined. (R 901-902) Champagne concluded that shell was, like the other two, fired from the .12 gauge shotgun. (R 901-902)

Five latent fingerprints were submitted for possible comparison. (R 772) The fingerprint examiner, Charles Richards, found four suitable for identification. (R 773) One

- 7 -

print, found on the exterior top of the driver's side window of the taxicab, matched Bruce Pace's left ring finger. (R 766-767) Richards could not tell how long the print may have been on the window. (R 768) The other four prints did not match Bruce's prints or that of Floyd Convington or Booker Jones, who had been a suspect. (R 772-774) No latents were found on the victim's wallet or the Busch beer can found near the taxi. (R 769-771)

A seriologist, Lonnie Ginsberg, tested the clothing obtained from the Richs' home for the presence of blood. (R 787-800) He found type O human blood on the pants. (R 787-788) The largest stain was on the back of the pants and appeared to have originated on the outside and was then absorbed into the fabric. (R 789-790) Since Covington and Bruce both have type O blood, DNA testing was attempted. (R 793-795) The blood stain proved to be insufficient for DNA testing. (R 794) Ginsberg could not determine from whom the blood originated since type O was consistent with blood of Bruce and Covington. (R 795-800) Human blood was found on the jacket and on one shoe, but the quantity was inadequate for ABO testing. (R 791-793)

Penalty Phase and Sentencing

The State and defense presented additional evidence during the penalty phase of the trial. In aggravation, the State introduced a 1981 judgment for strong armed robbery. (R 1037) Robert Mann, Bruce's parole officer, also testified that Bruce was on parole for the robbery at the time of the homicide. (R

- 8 -

1038-1039) Bruce presented testimony from his former teachers, employers and relatives concerning his background and childhood. (R 1042, 1049, 1057, 1063) A correctional officer from the jail also testified about Bruce's exemplary behavior while incarcerated awaiting trial. (R 1039-1041)

Bruce's highschool football coach, Hurley Manning, testified about his experiences with Bruce during his for years in highschool. (R 1042) He said Bruce was a good athlete and did not have any unusual problems in the program. (R 1044) Manning said Bruce was never a discipline problem in the program or for any of the other teachers. (R 1044) Bruce was generally quiet and hard working. (R 1044-1045)

Robert Settles was Bruce's vocational teacher and later his employer in the construction business. (R 1049) He started working with Bruce when Bruce was in the tenth grade. (R 1051) Shortly after Bruce graduated Settles left teaching and started a truss manufacturing business. (R 1051) He hired Bruce to work on a saw cutting trusses. (R 1051-1052) Settles considered Bruce to be naturally gifted working with the saw and a master sawman. (R 1052) He thought Bruce had a lot of capabilities but did not always live up to his potential. (R 1052-1054) Bruce worked with Settles for about a year and half when Bruce began work finishing concrete. (R 1055)

Eleanor Rich, Bruce's aunt, testified about Bruce's character and family background. (R 1057) She said Bruce was always a loving, caring person. (R 1059) When Bruce was around 14, his stepfather, Harvey Rich, left the family for over a

- 9 -

year. (R 1059-1060) As the oldest, Bruce assumed more responsibilities caring for his three younger siblings. (R 1060) She also mentioned the time when she had surgery, and Bruce would always come to her house to be sure she had lunch. (R 1060)

Finally, Bruce's mother, Lillian Rich, testified about his background and family life. (R 1063) Bruce never knew his real father, but his stepfather treated him as he did his own children. (R 1065) His stepfather left the family for a year when Bruce was 14. (R 1065) This may have had a negative effect on Bruce, since he admired his stepfather and spent time with him when he ran a service station. (R 1066) Bruce always tried to support the family including providing money when he began working. (R 1066-1067)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Before his arrest, Pace gave an exculpatory statement to his stepfather. Although the State asserted that the statement was false, there was no proof Pace lied. Nevertheless, the State sought to introduce the statement as showing consciousness of guilt. The trial court erroneously admitted the statement in violation of the rule precluding the admission of self-serving hearsay.

2. Two State witnesses, Pace's stepfather and mother, testified about two, red shotgun shells found in their yard. The shells were of the same manufacture as the two shells used to kill the victim. Additionally, the shells were fired from a shotgun seen in Pace's possession. On cross-examination, counsel asked about a third red shell which was of the same manufacture, fired from the same shotgun and found at the residence. The court improperly precluded the inquiry on the grounds that it was beyond the scope of direct. This left the jury with the inference that only two shells were found which matched the fact that the victim was shot twice.

3. The day before the victim disappeared, Pace had a conversation with his cousin in which he mentioned that he had money problems. She testified that Bruce said there was something he hated to do but he wanted some money the next day. This statement was improperly admitted as a prior threat since it never identified that Pace intended to commit a crime.

4. The two red, shotgun shells found in the yard where Pace lived were improperly admitted into evidence. These

- 11 -

shells were never linked to the crime. The State proved only two things: the victim was killed with shells made by the same manufacturer and a shotgun Pace possessed fired the shells. Although the prosecutor pushed the inference that the shells found were the ones fired to kill the victim, there was no evidentiary link to support this inference. Any minimal relevance the shells had was outweighed by the misleading inferences their admission created. Section 90.403 Florida Statutes should have precluded the admission of the shells.

5. The State failed to prove that Bruce Pace committed the homicide. Five items of evidence were used in an effort to prove Pace committed the crime. First, Bruce was seen with the victim in the taxicab on the morning the victim disappeared. Second, Bruce's fingerprint was found on a window in the cab. Third, Bruce had possession of a shotgun which fired the same brand of shells which were used to kill the victim. Fourth, Bruce had blood on his clothing. Fifth, Bruce made statements about needing money, and, being aware that the police wanted to question him, Bruce made an exculpatory statement to his stepfather. However, all of this evidence was circumstantial and failed to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence. The trial judge should have granted the motion for judgment of acquittal.

6. During penalty phase, Pace presented unrefuted testimony in mitigation from his former teachers, employers and relatives concerning his background and childhood. A correctional officer from the jail also testified about Pace's

- 12 -

exemplary behavior while incarcerated awaiting trial. The State did not refute this evidence of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, and, in fact, conceded the existence of this mitigation in a sentencing memorandum. In his sentencing order, the judge acknowledged that the testimony presented five nonstatutory mitigating circumstances for his consideration. However, the court did not find any of the circumstances to exist and weighed nothing in mitigation when determining sentence. The judge should have found these nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. His failure to do so skewed the sentencing weighing process rendering the death sentence unconstitutional.

7. At best, the State proved that Pace committed a murder during a robbery. There was no evidence of the details of the offense or what may have precipitated the shooting. Felony murders typically do not qualify for the imposition of a death sentence absent other compelling aggravation. Pace's death sentence is disproportional to the crime committed and must be reversed.

- 13 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE EXCULPATORY HEARSAY STATEMENTS PACE MADE TO HIS STEPFATHER.

Bruce's stepfather, Harvey Rich, was concerned that Bruce's absence and Floyd Covington's disappearance might be related. Rich contacted the sheriff's department. When Bruce came home, he talked to his stepfather. (R 852) Rich told Bruce that the police were looking for him. (R 861) Bruce told his stepfather that he needed to leave and that he thought something had happened to Covington. (R 852) Bruce then rela ted the events which had occurred. He said Floyd Covington drove him home on Friday morning. (R 853) Because he did not have his house key, Bruce said he entered the house through and unlocked window. (R 853-854) When he went into his room, Bruce said he noticed that his brother's shotgun was missing from the gun rack. (R 854) At about the same time, someone jumped him from behind and choked him to unconsciousness. (R 854) Bruce woke up in the woods near Covington's car. (R 852) He saw his brother's gun and picked it up. (R 852, 863) He saw blood on the inside of the car. (R 852) Bruce then walked to the Greens' residence. (R 855) He did not say what he did with the gun. (R 855) Bruce voluntarily went to the sheriff's office with his stepfather. (R 861-862)

Prior to the introduction of this statement, Pace objected and moved to prohibit the testimony. (R 825-835) The defense's position was that this was an unrefuted, exculpatory statement

- 14 -

and, consequently, inadmissible hearsay. Rejecting this argument, the trial judge ruled the statement was admissible and allowed the testimony. (R 835) The court erred because the statement was inadmissible hearsay. Pace urges this Court to reverse his conviction for a new trial.

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