IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 2 1990 ENK SLIPPEME GORNA

BRUCE DOUGLAS PACE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,056

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellant's seven point appeal relies heavily on a very egregious view of the facts and limited consideration of the controlling caselaw.

The trial court committed no errors during the guilt phase when it admitted relevant, probative evidence of Pace's guilt.

The court did not err in sentencing Pace in accordance with the weight of the evidence.

Pace is not entitled to relief.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING MR. PACE'S STATEMENT INTO EVIDENCE

Mr. Pace, aware that the police were looking for him, told his stepfather he was going to have to "leave" because of Mr. Covington. Mr. Pace then went on to relate an incredible "phantom mugger" tale. According to Mr. Pace, this person was hiding in the Rich's home, choked him into unconsciousness, somehow put him inside Covington's taxi, murdered and robbed Covington, dumped Covington's body then ditched the cab after dragging Pace into the woods. Pace was not killed.

This story was obviously false given Mr. Pace's own conduct on the weekend of November 4th. Pace says he saw the bloodstained taxi, yet he told May Green the blood on his clothes was squirrel blood. Mr. Covington was someone Pace had known and worked for, yet Pace never mentioned the abduction, bloody taxi or missing victim during the entire Friday and Saturday after he allegedly "came to". His fictional account of the crime was patently and obviously false.

Mr. Pace contends that his story, because it is "exculpatory", should not have been admitted at trial because it was hearsay. Mr. Pace's objection, of course, was based upon his story (to his father) was awareness that his untrue and therefore, incriminating. Citing Moore v. State, 530 So.2d 61 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), however, Pace contends that the trial court erred.

The trial court did not err. The decision in Moore v. State, supra, was clarified on rehearing to recognize that a "false exculpatory statement" is admissible in the State's case in chief to prove the defendant's consciousness of guilt and efforts to avoid detection and arrest. Moore states, however, that the defendant's comments must be demonstrably false.

In our case, the falsity of Pace's story to his father was demonstrated by his actions on November 4th and 5th, 1988. Pace never mentioned the disappearance of Mr. Covington to anyone, nor did he discuss his abduction or the abandoned, bloody taxi. Surely these things were not such common events or sights in Pace's life that they simply "slipped his mind". The defendant, by describing the blood on his clothes as squirrel blood to May Green, obviously was lying to different people at different times. Mr. Pace's claim that his story was not demonstrably false is simply not tenable on this record.²

Meanwhile, Pace's story served to demonstrate awareness that Covington was killed, awareness that the taxi and the body were disposed of in different places, presence with the victim on November 4, 1988, and use (or at least the presence) of his shotgun.

Again, this Court has recognized that a defendant's false exculpatory statement is admissible as direct evidence of guilt even where the defendant does not take the witness stand. Smith

The physical evidence corroborated Pace's presence at the crime scene and the use of his shotgun. No evidence, however, supported his "phantom robber" story. This "phantom robber" story, of course, has been used before. See Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1984).

v. State, 424 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1982); Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975). As direct evidence of guilt, this evidence is not merely "impeachment". Brown v. State, 391 So.2d 729 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), see also United States v. Holbert, 578 F.2d 128 (5th Cir. 1978).

Clearly, the trial court did not err.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT UNFAIRLY "LIMIT" CROSS EXAMINATION

Three times defense counsel attempted, on cross, to elicit testimony admitting the existence of an alleged "third shotgun shell". State objections were sustained during the cross examination of Pace's mother and father. During the cross of the ballistics expert, reference was made to a "third" shell but counsel did not clarify whether this third shell was found at the Rich's home or whether it came from somewhere else (or even was the shell used in test firing the shotgun).

The State did not question Mr. or Mrs. Rich on any "third" shell and no such shell was offered as evidence by either party. If the FDLE had a third shell, Pace did not subpoena it. If Pace's own parents found an exculpatory third shell, they never testified to doing so.

Based upon the State's questions and the introduction of only two shells into evidence, the trial judge correctly limited cross examination of Mr. and Mrs. Rich to the scope of direct.

³ We do not accept the notion that a third shell would necessarily be exculpatory. While Mr. Covington was only shot twice, the "fact" that another red shell was found does not disprove anything.

Mr. Pace alleges that Zequera v. State, 549 So.2d 189 (Fla. 1989), supports his position. It does not. In Zequera, the ownership and possession of certain .22 caliber bullets (that were in evidence) was a central issue. Zequera said the bullets belonged to a Mr. Puttkamer, who testified at trial. The defense was not allowed to ask Puttkamer whether this evidence was seized from his personal property. In granting relief, this Court noted that cross examination cannot be restricted to the point that the examiner cannot explore "an event or transaction only a portion of which has been testified to on direct". Zequera, supra, at 549.

Mr. Pace's problem is that the "third shell", unlike the .22 shells in Zequera, was not in evidence. Also, this alleged "third shell" was not given to the police with the other two shells as a part of that event or transaction. Mrs. Rich picked up and delivered two shells, not three. Mr. Rich merely saw two shells and neither picked them up or turned them in. If a third shell was ever given to anyone by the witnesses, it was not during this transaction and thus was outside the scope of direct.

Coxwell v. State, 361 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1978), is totally irrelevant. There, a prosecution witness testified to planning the victim's murder with the defendant but the defendant, on cross, was not allowed to ask if the plan was carried out.

Coco v. State, 62 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1953), is the case quoted in Zerquera and is thus subject to the same distinction.

The trial court had the discretionary power to limit the scope of cross examination to the scope of direct examination

pursuant to §90.612, Florida Statutes. There is no right to unlimited cross examination. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986); Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15 (1985). Included in this power is the power to preclude defense abuse of cross examination as a vehicle for introducing its evidence without either calling witnesses or adopting the witness as its own. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Coco v. State, supra.

Steinhorst recognizes that the two purposes of cross examination are to (1) weaken, test or show the impossibility of the witness' testimony, or (2) to impeach the credibility of the witness. Mr. Pace's questions did not address either objective.

Mr. Pace's actual complaint is not the "limitation" of cross as much as it is the inability of defense counsel to use cross examination as a vehicle for introducing evidence in violation of Steinhorst. The fact remains, if there was a third shell, its absence from the exhibits is the result of defense strategy, not judicial error.

Mr. Pace called no witnesses and obviously wanted the benefit of "first and last" argument. Thus, even though the witnesses in question were his own parents and were not hostile, Pace did not adopt the witnesses as his own nor did he recall them on the defense side of the trial. Jones v. State, 440 So.2d 570 (Fla. 1983); Steinhorst, supra; Henry v. State, 15 F.L.W. 2099 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). This tactical decision clearly supports a defense of "harmless error" even if it could be said the trial judge erred, Jones, supra; Henry, supra; see also

Correll v. Dugger, 15 F.L.W. S147 (Fla. 1990), since it is presumed that this so-called evidence - if it existed - was not so important as to cause defense counsel to give up opening and closing final argument.

The "third shell" testimony was outside the scope of direct and did not disprove or impeach the testimony of Pace's parents. This shell was not relevant to any unspoken theory of defense either. Thus, the limitation on cross was correct and any "error" was clearly harmless.

POINT III

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HIS HEARSAY CLAIM

Mr. Pace alleges that his November 3, 1988, comments to Angela Pace were inadmissible because they constituted something less than a specific threat against the victim at bar or any "class" of victims under Sikes v. State, 252 So.2d 258 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1971).

Mr. Pace's statements were not offered as a specific threat against Mr. Covington. They were offered as a specific statement of Pace's existing mental state or condition and as proof of motive under §90.803(3), (18), Florida Statutes. As such, they were admissible. Jackson v. State, 530 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1988); Kennedy v. State, 385 So.2d 1020 (Fla. 1980).

When Pace said he was "broke" and "tired of" being broke, he manifested his mental state. When Pace said he was going to remedy the condition "tomorrow" by doing something he "hated to do", he manifested intent to take some action.

Under Appellant's theory, a statement of mental condition or intent is only admissible if it contains a precise identification of the intended victim or class of victims. Nothing in §§803 reflects this requirement. We submit that Mr. Pace is attempting to equate "mental condition" and "intent" with a "specific threat". This, clearly, is not the law. Otherwise, an avowed intent, say "to steal tomorrow" would be inadmissible because the accused failed to specify whether he was going to rob a bank, a convenience store or an old lady. This additional detail does not add to the issue of "intent" to commit a crime.

Mr. Pace has another problem. As noted in Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988), Pace entered this litigation as a party opponent as well as the declarant. His position is different from that of other declarants because (1) he had, by his plea, asserted a position and (2) by virtue of his privilege not to testify, he was unavailable as a witness. Thus, as a party opponent his admissions (the need for money and intent to act "tomorrow") were admissible under \$90.803(18). Swafford, supra; Johnson v. State, 438 So.2d 774 (Fla. 1983); Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1982).

In Johnson, a finding of "cold, calculated and premeditated" murder during the penalty phase was proven by Johnson's (non-

We also note that the "rationale" for the exclusion of hearsay evidence is the protection of the party (against whom it is offered) from the impact of statements he cannot verify or cross examine. Obviously, when the declarant is the party himself, he has no such problem. §90.801, Florida Statutes.

victim-specific) comment that he did not mind shooting people to get money.

In Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521, 522 (Fla. 1982), the relevant evidence against the defendant included his comment, prior to the murder, that he was capable of hurting the victim's mother and that she (the mother) did not know what he was capable of doing. Rose murdered eight year old Lisa rather than her mother.

Therefore, even though Sikes would apply if Pace's statement was merely offered as a "threat", it is clear that Sikes will not prohibit the introduction of all evidence of mental state, condition, motive or intent.

Again, Pace is not entitled to relief.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE SHOTGUN SHELLS INTO EVIDENCE

While the two shotgun shells found at the Rich home could not be positively identified as the source of the wadding and pellets found in the victim, we would note:

- (1) The shells were of a kind not normally used for target shooting by Pace.
- (2) The shells were at the scene of the murder.
- (3) The shells were found after the murder.
- (4) The shells had been fired by Pace's gun.
- (5) The victim's death was caused by this kind (brand and size) of shotgun shell.

This physical evidence was not "remote" to the crime or to the defendant. We reject out of hand Pace's references to the shotgun as a gun "he once possessed", implying that he did not possess the gun during the murder. Pace possessed the gun before, during and after the murder, according to witnesses such as Mike and May Green and Mr. Pace himself. He lost "possession" only because May Green gave his gun to the police.

The shotgun shells were indisputably admissible as evidence. The only real issue was their evidentiary weight, not their admission. Nickles v. State, 37 So. 312 (Fla. 1904); Hall v. State, 381 So.2d 683 (Fla. 1979); Irizarry v. State, 496 So.2d 822 (Fla. 1986), see also Wilson v. State, 113 S.E.2d 447 (Ga. 1960); Perkins v. State, 203 S.E.2d 854 (Ga. 1974); Flores v. Texas, 372 S.W.2d 687 (Tex. 1963).

The presence of these shells, newly found, in Pace's front yard just after the murder, coupled with the fact that they were fired from Pace's gun and that the wadding in Covington's body came from that brand of shotgun shell, provided the necessary basis for admitting this evidence.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PACE'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL

The Appellant's brief gratuitously minimizes the State's evidence as falling into five limited categories. In fact, the State's case is (or was) as follows:

On November 3, 1988, Pace was heard to say he needed money and, "tomorrow", was going to have to do something he "hated" to get it. The next day, Pace was seen riding towards the Rich's house in a taxi being driven by Floyd Covington. Sometime around

10:30 a.m., Covington, who had once employed Pace and who had just received his pension for the month, was murdered. Shells of the kind used to murder Covington were found in the yard at the Rich's home. The shells were fired by Pace's shotgun. Pace himself was seen in blood spattered clothes by May and Mike Green. Pace said the blood was squirrel blood. Pace also hid his shotgun in some bushes by an empty house but retrieved it so he and Mike could do some shooting (November 5). Pace, when told the police were looking for him, proceeded to concoct a "phantom robber" story which put him in the cab, with the victim, with his gun, during the killing. It also belied his "squirrel blood" story.

The physical evidence showed that although Pace and Covington had the same blood type (0), only Covington was known to have any bleeding wounds. Also, Pace's blood stained clothes were stained from the outside in, meaning that the source of the blood was Covington's bloody cab, not Pace's body. A fingerprint belonging to Pace was found on the cab.

Although it was circumstantial, the case was almost overwhelming.

Now Mr. Pace alleges that a motion for judgment of acquittal should have been granted at trial and that, on appeal, this Court should reweigh the evidence to see if it excludes all reasonable hypotheses of innocence.

Missing from Mr. Pace's brief is acknowledgment of this Court's many holdings that the issue of whether "all reasonable hypotheses of innocence" have been excluded is a jury question,

not subject to appellate review if the verdict attained enjoys record support. Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1982); Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); Clark v. State, 379 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1979); Heiney v. State, 447 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1984); Williams v. State, 488 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1986); State v. Law, _____ So.2d ____, 15 F.L.W. S241 (Fla. 1990); Duckett v. State, ____ So.2d ____, 15 F.L.W. S439 (Fla. 1990).

In Law, this Honorable Court addressed the subject of "what" a trial judge should do in ruling on a motion for acquittal in a circumstantial case. This Court said:

It is the trial judge's proper task to review the evidence to determine the presence or absence of competent evidence from which the jury could infer guilt to the exclusion of all other inferences. That view of the evidence must be taken in the light most favorable to the State. Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666, 670 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911 (1976). The State is not required to "rebut conclusively every possible variation" of events which could be inferred from the evidence, but only to introduce competent which evidence inconsistent with the defendant's theory of events. See Toole v. State, 472 So.2d 1174, 1176 (Fla. 1985). Once that threshold burden is met, it becomes the jury's burden to determine whether the evidence is sufficient to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence beyond a reasonable doubt.

Supra, at 241.

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